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PART 1

INTRODUCTION

5 HE STORY of the Massachusetts Memorial Hospitals re-
veals an unflagging concern with the problems of health, edu-
cation and medical care. Many changes took place in the first
century of this institution’s existence and it is interesting in
looking back, to relate these changes to processes which had
been going on in the country as a whole. Today as the Hospital
stands on the brink of a new century, new roads to health have
been opened and new problems are recognized. Looking back-
ward with the support of experience and the advantage of
historical perspective may make it possible to look to the
future with the force of character and courage which person-
ified those who were involved in the growth and development
of the Hospital during its first hundred years of patient care,
education and research.

The history of an institution is bound to be the story of
people whose dedicated effort, loyalty and devotion give to
bricks and mortar those intangible characteristics which create
a personality. This account of the Massachusetts Memorial
Hospitals during its first hundred years deals more with people
and their beliefs, than with structural development, because
through them the character of the institution has emerged.
Emphasis on the goals, efforts and accomplishments of a few
of these people should lead this institution to rededicate an-
other century to the all-important task of health service. Such
a rededication will involve continuing care of the sick, in-
tensified effort to increase the body of scientific knowledge
of health and disease through research, and expansion
and broadening of opportunities for education in the
health professions.

The Massachusetts Memorial Hospitals is linked so
closely with the Boston University School of Medicine that it
would be quite impossible to deal with the origin and develop-
ment of one and not the other. Many of the same people
and essentially the same objectives were, and for that matter
still are, a part of both institutions. There cannot be the
slightest doubt in anyone’s mind of the enthusiasm, sincerity,
and loyalty of the Founders, the reciprocal Faculty and Staff
and the essential unity of purpose of the two institutions.

In order to appreciate the nature of the problems which
faced this hospital in its beginning, it may be well to consider
for a moment the context within which this development
took place. The early part of the seventeenth century in the
United States is remembered because of the indomitable
courage and spirit of a small band of people in pursuit of
freedom and liberty who landed at Plymouth. In a rigorous
climate and rugged country, problems of health soon became
a matter of primary importance, and for assistance with such
troubles, people naturally turned to their leaders, the clergy and

governors, These were not physicians, but were, nevertheless,
educated men, informed on many subjects and prepared for
any sacrifice. Thus, a system of clerical medicine which was
characteristic of Europe for several hundred years held sway
in this country for a relatively short period of time. During
the eighteenth century, life in the colonies took on a more
stable form. People had moved into new houses in which they
felt warm, comfortable, and at home. New generations had
been born to whom the New World was the only home they
had known. Clerical medicine began to disappear, and the
American medical school came as a supplement to the
apprenticeship system.

During the nineteenth century, many significant changes
took place. The population of the country increased rapidly
through natural growth and by immigration, Andrew Jackson
was elected President of the United States, the first plebeian
to be so honored. The opening of the Erie Canal in 1825
assisted in the rapid settlement of the Middle West. Large
communities had already begun to develop in the East. The
need for medical care was acute, and there was an enormous
increase in the number of medical schools and hospitals.
Hospitals were built wherever funds could be raised, and
medical schools were established wherever students were
available. This was a time of new ideas, controversy, and
ferment in the United States. It is not surprising, therefore,
that new medical ideas should spread rapidly throughout
various communities and that traditional or orthodox methods
should have been open to question. Thus we find that homeo-
pathy was introduced in America in 1825 by Dr. Hans Burch
Gram, who was born in Boston and obtained his medical
education in Denmark. The pioneer of this new therapeutic
system in New England was Dr. Samuel Gregg. This method
of treatment was based upon the law similia similibus curentur
(like should be treated by like). This was a belief which has
since been traced to Hippocrates and is known to have been
stated by Paracelsus. Its essential basis was that the cure of a
disease is effected by drugs that are capable of producing
symptoms in a healthy individual which are similar to those
of the disease to be treated. Another feature of homeopathy
was the belief in the action of minute doses of drugs. In
stressing the therapeutic side of medicine, homeopathy did
much to stimulate the study of the physiological action of
drugs. In these modern days of scientific medicine, it may
be well to consider whether the process of desensitization of
the allergic individual is actually corroboration of the law
similia similibus curentur!

Boston had increased significantly in terms of territory
and population since it had received its charter as a city in
1822. In 1845, the process of filling in the extensive tidal flats



which surrounded much of the city had begun. With in-
creasing frequency, commerce which had flowed in and out
of the port of Boston on Clipper ships was being carried by
steamships. The War of 1812 provided some of the incentive
for encouraging manufacturing and industrial enterprise.
While it is well known that Boston led the way to the
establishment of the first public schools and the first institu-
tions of higher education in the United States, it should also
be recognized that this city, throughout its history, has played
3 significant role in the development of hospitals and in the
process of education for the health professions.

It is within such an environment that the Massachusetts
Homeopathic Hospital was conceived. The original charter was
signed by Governor Henry ]. Gardner on May 19, 1855.
The eleven prominent Boston citizens mentioned in the Act
of Incorporation included Otis Clapp, founder of a pharma-
ceutical firm; John Punchard Jewett, the publisher of Uncle
Tom'’s Cabin; and Jacob Sleeper, an eminently successful busi-
nessman whose philanthropic interests included the fields of
medicine, religion, education, and music. He was a member of
the Governor’s Council and an Overseer of Harvard College.
William Claflin, one time Governor of Massachusetts, son of
Lee Claflin, and Doctors Conrad and William P. Wesselhoeft
were early members of the Hospital corporation.

Homeopathy had gained tremendously in popularity, and
in 1850 a committee of the Massachusetts Medical Society
issued a statement on homeopathy which “‘commended the
Society to do no more than avoid giving a positive sanction”
to this unorthodox theory. Among other things, homeopathy
attacked the common practice of prescribing huge doses of
violent drugs upon the appearance of any disorder, however
slight. Ten years later, Dr. Oliver Wendell Holmes was to
say, I firmly believe that if the whole materia medica as now
used (with few exceptions) could be sunk to the bottom of the
sea, it would be all the better for mankind — and all the worse
for the fishes.”

THE HOMEOPATHIC MEDICAL DISPENSARY

In 1856, John H. Wilkins, Charles B. Hall, and Jacob
Sleeper, among others, were named by the Massachusetts
legislature as incorporators of the Homeopathic Medical
Dispensary. This institution, located in one room in Tremont
Temple at Washington and Boylston Streets, was opened to
the public in 1857. In 1871, the Dispensary was moved to a
small house at 14 Burroughs Place, just behind the present
Metropolitan Theatre. A branch of the Central Dispensary on
Burroughs Place, the College Dispensary, was established in
the Boston University School of Medicine building on East
Concord Street in 1873. A West End branch of the Dispensary
was established on Leverett Street in 1876. The following year
it was moved to 28 Causeway Street and finally was located
in the Charity Building on Chardon Street.

The annual report of the Homeopathic Medical Dispensary
of January 1, 1878, states that in the previous year 10,011
patients were treated. The rules and regulations indicate that
“Patients too sick to come to the Dispensary for treatment may

be attended in their homes by applying at the Dispensary. If
the attending physician is unable to visit such outpatients, he
may authorize medical students, in their senior year of study,
to visit them under his supervision. He shall require to be
made to him, from day to day, a careful report of all such
cases and shall give directions as to their treatment.” It is
not surprising, therefore, to find that in 1877 there were
1,507 patients treated in their homes.

The Third Annual Announcement of the Boston Univer-
sity School of Medicine in May, 1875, also contains a reference
to this type of service in describing the clinical activities of
the College Dispensary. This publication states that ‘ad-
vanced students are allowed to visit patients in their homes
and treat them under the direction of the attending physicians.”

These modern days reflect wide interest in organized
Home Medical Care Programs as they relate to the broadening
of the scope of services with which patients are provided and
to the significance of such an experience in the course of
medical education. It is therefore, worthwhile to record the
fact that this has been a continuous activity of the Massachu-
setts Memorial Hospitals, its predecessors, and the Boston
University School of Medicine for the past eighty years.

The Central Dispensary continued to function at 14
Burroughs Place until 1891, when it moved to the corner of
Harrison Avenue and Stoughton Street, in a new building
constructed on land provided by the City of Boston for a
nominal consideration. In September, 1891, the basement and
the first story of this building were completed and opened to
the public. It had been hoped that enough funds would be
made available for the erection of a three-story building. This,
however, could not be undertaken without incurring too large
a debt.

Another dispensary was established at 4 Pynchon Street
opposite the Roxbury Station on January 22, 1887. Almost
at the outset, numerous calls were received from patients too
sick to come to the dispensary, and a home visiting service was
established. In the first annual report by the Trustees of this
institution, there is considerable discussion of the desirability
of developing ways to make it possible for low-income in-
dividuals and families to meet the costs of medical care. It
was suggested that a mutual medical club be established for
such individuals and families where, by paying a fixed monthly
assessment, they would be entitled to all necessary medical
attendance. The report of 1890 recommended a system of
district nursing for bedside nursing care in addition to home
visits by physicians.

THE NEW ENGLAND FEMALE
MEDICAL COLLEGE

In 1848, the first class of twelve women was enrolled
in the Boston Female Medical College and instructed by Drs.
Enoch Carter Rolfe and William Mason Cornell. This was
the first school in the United States dedicated to the education
of women for the practice of medicine. It was met by an
editorial in the Boston Medical and Surgical Journal that was



a vitriolic blend of derision and ridicule. The first lecture
was delivered in a private home on Franklin Street, and for
the next two years the school migrated from one location to
another. On April 30, 1850, the Massachusetts legislature
incorporated the Female Medical Education Society “for the
purpose of providing for the education of Midwives, Nurses,
and Female Physicians.” The main objective of the Society
was to secure money to support the medical college. From
1850 to 1852, the college was located in the home of a
prominent Boston physician who was spending two years
of study in Europe. His residence at 75 Boylston Street was
rented, and the officers of the Society erected a sign on one
side of the building sixteen feet long and one foot wide
with the legend “New England Female Medical College.”

It was through the progressive, liberal spirit, broad-
mindedness, faith, earnestness, and unfailing activity of Dr.
Samuel Gregory that the society and college had come into
being. In January, 1852, he was appointed ‘“Professor of
Chemistry in the New England Female Medical College and
Dean of the Faculty.” Contributors to the support of the
school included many prominent citizens, such as Harriet
Beecher Stowe, Horace Mann, Wendell Phillips, Henry Wads-
worth Longfellow, and William Lloyd Garrison. On May 28,
1856, the State legislature gave to the New England Female
Medical College the power to confer the degree of Doctor
of Medicine. The Civil War added to the financial difficulties
of the institution, and a reorganized Board of Trustees tackled
this problem in 1866. A permanent building was erected in
1870 between East Concord Street and Stoughton Street, now
the site of the Boston University School of Medicine. The
cornerstone was laid by Joshua Merrill, acting president of the
Board of Trustees of the College and later a Trustee of
Boston University.

It seems fitting that so radical a departure from con-
temporary opinion as that which invited women so far from
domestic interests as the field of medical practice should
originate in the City of Boston already well engaged in new
departures on the road to freedom. From the inception of
this college in 1848 to the time of its being merged with
Boston University in 1873, ninety-eight women completed
their studies and received its diploma, among them women
widely and honorably known, thereafter, for notable use-
fulness in their chosen profession. After Dr. Gregory’s death
in 1872, a tablet in his memory was placed in the Boston
University School of Medicine, with the following inscription:

“In Memory of
SAMUEL GREGORY, M.D.

Died March 23, 1872 Aged 58 Years

To his efforts is due the origin of the Female
Medical College. Established in 1848, Incorporated
in 1850. This building erected in 1870. By his
unceasing labors the institution was sustained from
its commencement to the time of his death.

This was the first Female Medical College ever
established.”

THE MASSACHUSETTS HOMEOPATHIC
HOSPITAL

In 1869, Dr. F. H. Krebs called to the attention of the
Massachusetts Homeopathic Society the fact that it held
charters for the establishment of a medical school and a
hospital. A committee of ten, consisting of Drs. David Thayer,
W. P. Wesselhoeft, Conrad Wesselhoeft, G. N. Pease,
Charles Cullis, I. T. Talbot, D. G. Woodbine, H. C. Angell,
E. B. de Gersdorff, and J. H. Woodbury, offered to the State
Homeopathic Society in 1870 the following resolution: “Re-
solved, that this committee cordially approves the establishment
of a homeopathic hospital in Burroughs Place, believing that
in this modest beginning we have the germ of an institution
which under the fostering care of the homeopaths of the city
and state will grow into a New England Homeopathic
Hospital and a New England Homeopathic College.”

The hospital, therefore, was established in 1871 with
sixteen beds in the upper floors of the building at 14 Burroughs
Place, the basement of which was occupied by the Dispen-
sary. The decorations and furnishings were provided under the
direction of the Ladies’ Aid Association. Thus, the hospital
came into being sixteen years after it had been incorporated
by the Massachusetts legislature. One of the significant per-
sonalities, among many, in this move was Dr. Israel Tisdale
Talbot, a man who was able to coordinate the scattered and
heterogeneous forces of homeopathy and convert them into
a united body of harmonious and successful activity. The
hospital probably owes more to his influence than to that of
any other individual.

The comparatively mild attitude towards homeopathy was
replaced by extreme bitterness by a minority of the Massa-
chusetts Medical Society that culminated in the notorious trial
of 1871-1873, a record of the proceedings of which is preserved
in a volume of famous Massachusetts trials in the Boston
Athenaeum. Among the accused were Dr. 1. Tisdale Talbot,
Surgeon-in-Chief of the Massachusetts Homeopathic Hospital,
and Dr: David Thayer, an Incorporator and Staff member.
There are few more stirring addresses than that made by
Dr. Talbot who indicated his deep sincerity, his abiding faith
and his high degree of professional integrity when he said in
his capacity as defense counsel,

“Our only professional pledge is to cure our patients by
the best means in our power. For this purpose we stand as
physicians, ready to receive any new truths; and we ask you
to be as ready to receive, to examine what we have so carefully
studied and believe to be true. When it is clearly proved that
any drug or remedy in any case or form whatever is the best
thing for the patient, it is the physician’s duty to his patient
and to his profession to administer such remedy, but until such
a demonstration is given, it is equally his duty to give what
he thinks is best, be it homeopathic, allopathic or heteropathic.”

Despite the impressive defense, the accused physicians
were expelled from the Massachusetts Medical Society,



The principle of homeopathy, however, continued to have
a popular vogue, and the small original hospital soon became
overcrowded. A larger and better-equipped building became
an imperative need. Under the leadership of Drs. Talbot,
Thayer, Wesselhoeft, and others, the task of raising money to
erect a new building was undertaken. The Ladies’ Aid Associa-
tion conducted “‘one of the.most brilliant fairs ever held in
Boston™ at which $76,000 was raised for this purpose. The
fair started on April 15 and closed on April 27, 1872. A
pamphlet entitled the “Pellet” was published each day of
the fair. The editorial board consisted of Thomas Bailey
Aldrich and James M. Bugbee as editors and Edward J.
Hudson as local editor. William W. Clapp and 1. T. Talbot
were members of the publishing committee. All of the Greater
Boston communities were represented at the fair. Indeed,
participation extended to include Lynn, New Bedford, Provi-
dence, Andover, Fall River, Springfield, Portland, Salem,
Hingham, Gloucester, Lowell, Lexington, Newburyport, and
Taunton. The first issue of the Pellet contained the following
statement on the concept of anesthesia contributed by
M:r. Longfellow.

“The use of anesthesia in surgical operations is far more
ancient than most people imagine. The following extract from
du Bartas shows the idea to have been familiar to the minds
of men as early as the sixteenth century. The Sieur du Bartas,
poet, Huguenot, and captain in the army of Henry of
Navarre, was born in 1544 and died in 1590 from wounds
received in the Battle of Ivry. His chief work is ‘La Sepmaine’
or ‘The Week of the Creation of the World,” which was
translated into English by Joshua Sylvester, ‘a gentleman of
Kent." From this translation the following extract is made:

*“ “Even as a Surgeon, minding off-to-cut

Some Careless limb, before in use he put

His violent Engins on the vicious member,
Bringeth his patient in a senseless slumber,
And griefless then, (guided by Use and Art)
To save the whole, saws off the infested part;
So God impaled our Grandsire’s lively look,
Through all his bones a deadly chillness struck,
Sealed up his sparkling eyes with iron bands,
Led down his feet (almost) to Leithe’s sands,
Indeed so numbed his soul’s and body’s sense
That (without pain) opening his side, from thence
He took a rib, which rarely he refined,

And thereof made the Mother of Mankind’.”

With the proceeds from the fair a land site was purchased
on East Concord Street between Harrison Avenue and Albany
Street adjoining the Boston University of Medicine. The
change from the temporary hospital in Burroughs Place to
the new spacious and well-arranged building on East Concord
Street in 1876 was hardly more agreeable to the patients than
to the members of the Staff. The Medical Board felt that “not
only is this hospital a vast improvement upon the one
formerly occupied, but it affords its inmates comforts and
conveniences scarcely equalled by any other hospital.”

Despite the availability of a new forty-bed building, all
operations were performed in the anatomical amphitheatre of

the Boston University School of Medicine on Saturdays until
1884, when a surgical wing was added to the original build-
ing. This construction, in addition to a cottage ward for
contagious diseases, was undertaken immediately adjacent to
the original building on land conveyed to the Hospital by the
City of Boston. Ground was broken in July, 1883, and the
construction was completed in 1884. The bed capacity of the
Hospital was now raised to seventy-three. In 1885, the School
of Nursing, one of the first schools of nursing in New England,
was founded. There were three head nurses and thirteen
pupils. Four students, Eleanor Koehler-Loomis, Mary P. Talbot,
Anna H. Hunt and Lillian Burns-Dinsmore, were graduated in
the first commencement exercises in 1887, the same year that
electric lights were installed in the Hospital. By 1890, the
number of patients treated at the Hospital annually-was almost
700. In the ensuing years, the need for expansion resulted in
the establishment of a medical wing and a surgical annex in
1892, bringing the bed capacity up to 225. This was made
possible by a grant of $120,000 from the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts which was approved by the legislature on
June 3, 1890. In consideration of this action by the State, it was
agreed that five members of the Board of Trustees should be
appointed by the Governor. The Hospital also agreed never
to maintain less than twenty free beds.

The Ladies’ Aid Association

It is quite apparent in reviewing the early history of the
Hospital that significant and essential contributions were made
by a loyal, spirited, and dedicated group of women. Even
before the election of the first Board of Trustees of the
Hospital, a group of interested women, anticipating the need,
raised $2,500 to aid in furnishing the Hospital. The principals
behind this effort all bore names still familiar — Mrs.
I. T. Talbot, Mrs. E. B. de Gersdorff, Mrs. ]J. H. Woodbury,
Mrs. H. C. Angell, and Mrs. C. Wesselhoeft, who on
December 14, 1870, were to formally organize the Ladies’
Aid Association.

Time and again, through the years, the Board of Trustees
and the Medical Board have voiced their appreciation to the
membership of this Association “for their liberal, timely,
and persevering assistance which has contributed in many ways
to the comfort and recovery of patients.”

The role played by the Ladies’ Aid Association in
raising $76,000 in 1872 has already been mentioned. This
was indeed an effort of mammoth proportions. In order to
display all the exhibits, the Music Hall, the two Horticultural
Halls, and Bumpstead Hall were used. There were sixty-two
tables at which various items of interest were sold. In addition,
there were a Punch and Judy show, a bear garden, a
shooting gallery, and a steam engine. A marshal force of
seventy-two under the direction of Chief Marshal Col. Arnold
A. Rand was necessary in order to avoid confusion and to assist
the large number of visitors. A calf which was raffled off at one
table was said to have been won by an elderly lady who lived
in a small apartment.

Wendell Phillips was scheduled to give a lecture for the
benefit of the Fair and unwittingly was approached by a























































































